
Local Access Forum  - 9 July 2019 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear LAF Member

A meeting of the LOCAL ACCESS FORUM will be held in THE BRECON 
BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY OFFICE, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 
CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 9TH JULY, 2019 AT 
2.00 PM when your attendance is requested.

Notes:

Tea and coffee facilities will be provided from 1.30pm – please help yourself

It will be assumed that all papers and documents distributed in advance of 
the meeting have been read.

1 WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES  (CHAIRMAN) 

To receive apologies for absence.

2 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF 7TH MEETING HELD ON 
11TH APRIL 2019     (CHAIRMAN) (Pages 3 - 6)

To authorise the Chairman to sign the minutes as a true record of the previous 
meetings

3 MATTERS ARISING NOT OTHERWISE APPEARING ON AGENDA  
(CHAIRMAN) 

4 AREA STATEMENTS  (RACHEL JARVIS, NRW) 

5 BBNP WALKS ON THE WEB    (SIÂN SHAKESPEAR, BBNPA) 

6 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, CONSERVATION AND ACCESS 

Public Document Pack



Local Access Forum  - 9 July 2019 2

OPPORTUNITIES   (CHRIS O'BRIEN, BBNPA) 

7 ANNUAL REPORT TO BBNPA PLANNING ACCESS AND RIGHTS 
OF WAY COMMITTEE   (CHAIRMAN) (Pages 7 - 8)

8 NATIONAL ACCESS FORUM UPDATE  (STUART FRANCE) 

9 ANY OTHER COMPETENT BUSINESS  (CHAIRMAN) 

Any other business as is, in the opinion of the Chairman, of such urgency as to 
warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Richard Ball – 
Richard.Ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

mailto:Richard.Ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum 
Unconfirmed Minutes of the 7th Meeting held at 2pm on Thursday 11th April 

2019 at BBNPA Offices, Brecon

Present
Ian Mabberley (IM) - Chairman
Richard Ball (RB) - Secretary
Pam Bell (PB)
Stuart France (SF)
Hywel Morgan (HM)
Josie Pearson (JP)
Ruth Pickvance (RP)

Tracy Purnell (TP)
Steve Rayner (SR)
Dave Sharman (DS)
Paul Sinnardurai (PS)
Katherine Whitrow (KW)
Colin Woodley (CW)

Observers
Fiona Ford (FF) Torfaen CBC/Eastern Valleys LAF
Sarah Tindell (ST) Natural Resources Wales (NRW)
Caroline Ferguson Carmarthenshire CC/Carmarthenshire LAF
Steve Bignell                         Black Mountains land use partnership (BMLUP) Ranger
Eifion Jones (EJ) Rights of Way Officer BBNPA (Item 5 & 11)
Lisa Lloyd Rights of Way Assistant BBNPA 
Ilona Carati Activity Leader – Active Aging Project BBNPA (Item 6)

1. Welcome, Introductions and apologies
IM welcomed members and observers to the meeting. Apologies were received from Toby 
Veall, Denis Murphy, Chris Waterhouse, Debra Hughes, Philippa Cherryson, Ian Jenkins and 
Judith Harvey (BBNPA). RB confirmed that Patrick Dobbs had resigned from the LAF.

2. Confirmation of Minutes of 6th Meeting held on 10th January 2019
With one minor amendment the minutes were accepted and the Chairman authorised to sign 
them as a correct record.

3. Matters arising not otherwise appearing on agenda
RB reported that the BBNPA ENRAW Grant bid was unsuccessful, as yet Welsh Government 
(WG) hasn’t provided any feedback. Across Wales very few access project bids have been 
successful.

BMLUP Rangers – IM introduced Steve Bignell who has taken over from Matt Kersely as lead 
ranger. IM thanked Steve for attending the meeting.

Bryn Arw Woodland Creation – RB said that he had received notification that consent under 
Section 38 of the Commons Act 2006 had been applied for.

4. Funding for access and rights of way in the BBNP

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



PS provided members with a verbal update and explained that access and rights of way work 
is facing extreme funding constraints as there is currently no capital money for 2019-20 
following the end of ROWIP grants. There may be another ENRAW grant window so 
members were asked to give some thought on potential projects. Members discussed possible 
ways of raising money for access and rights of way.

5. Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan Consultation
EJ gave an update on the draft ROWIP. Consultation on the Draft Plan ended on 17th March 
with 11 responses being received. LAF members were provided with all the responses and EJ 
outlined the BBNPA’s response to the comments and details of proposed changes to the 
Draft ROWIP document. LAF members agreed to support the proposed amendments and 
agreed with the reasons for not making some of the suggested changes put forward during 
the consultation.

The Draft ROWIP would now be amended and submitted to the BBNPA Planning, Access 
and Rights of Way (PAROW) Committee for signing off. A delivery plan will be produced 
with a set of actions which will generate a work programme. This document will be presented 
to the LAF for comment.

IM thanked the rights of way team for all the work carried out producing the ROWIP.

6. Active Aging
Ilona Carati, Activity Leader for the Active Aging Project, provided members with a summary 
of the project and explained that it aims to improve health and wellbeing of older people, 
loosely defined as 55yrs plus by engaging with them and encouraging access into the 
countryside. The focus is as much about social interaction as it is the walking activity. The 
project is currently running 4 walks over two day in Brecon and Ystradgynlais and is looking 
to offer walks in other areas. Leaflets for upcoming walks were circulated. 

7. Annual Report
Members accepted the annual report and RB explained that IM would present the report to 
the BBNPA at the PAROW committee in June.

8. Llyn y Fan Fach access
Judith Harvey provided an update via email. Drawings and costing for the improvements to 
the track have been commissioned. Once Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) are happy 
with the proposals graziers, residents and user groups will be consulted.

A planning application has been submitted for the soft expansion of the car parking area. 
Objections have been received.

IM added that the meeting with Jonathan Jones DCWW had been very positive
9. LAF Chairs Meeting 

Page 4



IM gave a members a brief summary of the meeting.

10.  National Access Forum Wales Update
SR circulated a summary of 4th April meeting and gave a brief outline of the discussions. 

Members discussed the WG response to the Taking Forward Wales’ Sustainable Management 
of Natural Resources Consultation – Access Proposals, the WG written statement was 
published on 4th April 219 and circulated to members.

11.    Rights of Way Diversion
Govilon School – Two of the LAF members had raised concerns and questioned the need for 
the footpath to be diverted. EJ explained the situation regarding the application to divert the 
public footpath due to development and outlined the weakness in the planning process 
whereby the applicant requires planning permission before they can apply for diversion of the 
right of way. 

CF said that the same issue had arisen in Carmarthenshire and the LAF had agreed to receive 
all planning consultations that affect a right of way so that they have an opportunity to 
comment at the earliest opportunity. FF said that she forwards planning applications that have 
a significant effect on row to the LAF members to provide comments.

Members agreed for all planning consultations affecting rights of way to be sent to the LAF 
Members to comment on. Responses to be sent to LL/EJ. This will be trialled until the next 
meeting.

12. LAF Member Recruitment
Patrick Dobbs has tendered his resignation from the LAF and IM to write to thank Patrick for 
his contribution to the LAF over the past few years
There is now a vacancy on the LAF and IM advised members that two expressions of interest 
have been received – from a fishing and cycling background. Members agreed that another 
member should be appointed. RB advised that the maximum number of members that are 
allowed to sit on the LAF is 22 so unfortunately only one of the interested parties could be 
appointed. Members voted and agreed that a cycling background would be very useful given 
the WG proposals.

13. AOB
IM said that he had written to Joe Daggett, National Trust, and had received a response giving 
an update regarding the proposed car parking at Pont ar Daf.

Date of the next meeting
9th July 2019, Venue to be confirmed.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Chairman, may I start by thanking you for inviting me here today to present the Annual 
Report of the BBNP Local Access Forum.  I am now in my second session of Chairing the LAF 
and it continues to be both a great privilege and an enjoyable experience.  I can only thank 
the 21 other members of the LAF for that.  Their enthusiasm, tenacity, expertise and 
humour make all meetings not only very productive but also pleasurable, which may well 
have something to do with the increasing number of observers we get at each meeting – 
finding rooms large enough is becoming a task for our excellent officers. 

Indeed, without the expert input of Eifion, Lisa and Richard, to name but three, our 
discussions and deliberations would often be less focussed.  Their knowledge is second to 
none and we all appreciate that.  As Chairman, I sit on an all-Wales LAF Chairs meeting and 
some of the stories about the lack of interaction between LAFs and local staff only goes to 
reinforce our good fortune here in the Park. 

The recent year has contained issues of all sorts, from governmental edicts to minor path 
diversions.  

The largest of these was the redrafting of the Rights of Way Improvement Plan, a task 
expertly undertaken by Eifion and guided by the members of the LAF as and when required.  
I use the full title of the plan here as it highlights that it is an IMPROVEMENT plan, and 
herein lies one of the great dichotomies – improving the Rights of Way Network at a time of 
shrinking budgets.  The document will guide all aspects of managing rights of way and 
access.  Unfortunately, central governments of all hues seem to believe that life can be 
made better by spending less money.  You and I know this isn’t the case, but telling them 
doesn’t seem to work!

We all see with our own eyes wherever we live in the Park that visitor numbers are 
increasing – rapidly I would say.   From the evidence of my own eyes and ears, the amount 
of traffic, not only at weekends but throughout the week, in the Grwyne Fawr valley in the 
Black Mountains is at least double what it was ten years ago and maybe ten times on 20 
years ago.   My property is split by the valley road, and crossing with a wheelbarrow is now 
an exercise in the Green Cross Code!  (apologies if there’s anyone too young to remember 
that campaign!)

Furthermore, one only has to see the gridlock situations in the Waterfalls and at Storey 
Arms to know that everyone wants a bit of the Brecon Beacons National Park.   Visitor 
management is crucial to all of these people going away with a positive experience. The 
ROW team and especially the Wardens on the ground are a vital part in this.  In former 
times the Wardens were helped by Forestry Commission staff and the like, but nowadays 
there seems to be none of this and the burden falls, unfairly, on the Park. 

I will also mention here that the removal of most Tourist Information Centres doesn’t help, 
as it is now more difficult to steer visitors away from the busiest areas.  

The Welsh Government continues to promote the use of the countryside as being ‘a good 
thing’ but as already mentioned seems to do little to facilitate it.  A letter I sent to the then 
Minister bemoaning the lack of funding was answered with what appeared to be a standard 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



reply with just the names and figures changed – my opposite numbers in the other two 
Parks got exactly the same reply.  None of my specific points were answered. 

As well as the ROWIP we were very closely involved with the major consultation exercise 
that featured a section on access to the countryside.  Whilst we are still not clear about 
exactly what the Welsh Government is planning to take forward from this exercise, is has 
become clear that there will be increasing pressures on Right of Way to encompass the use 
of paths by bikes and horses, both of which can cause greater damage than pedestrians.   

And it’s not just the physical aspects of, at the very least, maintaining Rights of Way.  There 
is considerable planning and negotiation that has to go on behind the scenes to enable 
changes to paths and path furniture.  

Not all of our deliberations are quite as sizeable as these two, but many are equally 
important to users of our network.  I take as an example the matter of access to Lyn y Fan 
Fach.  Here we have a major tourist area in the West of the Park that is currently almost 
impossible to visit in a wheelchair or even with limited ambulatory facilities.  The solution is 
in fact simple – remove a couple of gates at the only point of the track which is restricted 
and access to all will be achieved.  

Of course, simple doesn’t really exist, but I believe that with the assistance of members of 
the LAF and the persistence of Judith Harvey, we are now very close to an agreement with 
Welsh Water (and their tenant) to make access for all at Lyn y Fan Fach a reality.  A small 
victory but a significant one for so many people. 

I won’t take up any more of your time but I would like to finish off by reiterating the 
purposes of National Parks  - I’m sure you have them engraved on your hearts, but it doesn’t 
hurt to be reminded occasionally. 

1) To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage.
2) To promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities of national parks by the public.

This second purpose can only be effectively achieved by the highest quality of management 
of the rights of way network and access land.  The BBNP Local Access Forum believes this 
can only be achieved by supporting, and wherever possible, augmenting the work of the 
Access and Rights of Way teams.   Get this right and the first purpose, in many ways. will 
follow.

Ladies and Gentlemen, I commend this Report to you.  Thank you. 

Page 8


	Agenda
	2 Confirmation of Minutes of 7th Meeting held on 11th April 2019	    (Chairman)
	7 Annual Report to BBNPA Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee   (Chairman)

